IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

IN MATTER OF: THE HONORABLE DAVID E. FERGUSON, MAGISTRATE OF WAYNE COUNTY SUPREME COURT NO. 19-0032 JIC COMPLAINT NO. 35-2018



JUDICIAL DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL'S BRIEF

Respectfully submitted,

Judicial Disciplinary Counsel

By

Teresa A. Tarr, Esquire
Brian J. Lanham, Esquire
WV Bar I.D. Nos. 5631 & 7736
City Center East, Suite 1200A
4700 MacCorkle Avenue, SE
Charleston, WV 25304
(304) 558-0169
(304) 558-0831 (facsimile)
teresa.tarra.courtswv.gov
brian.lanhama.courtswv.gov

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Article VIII, § 8 of the West Virginia Constitution states that under its inherent rulemaking power, the Supreme Court "shall, from time to time, prescribe, adopt, promulgate, and amend rules prescribing a judicial code of ethics and a code of regulations and standards of conduct and performances" for justices, judges and magistrates. West Virginia Rule of Judicial Disciplinary Procedure ("WVRJD") 1 states:

The ethical conduct of judges is of the highest importance to the people of the State of West Virginia and to the legal profession. Every judge shall observe the highest standards of judicial conduct. In furtherance of this goal, the Supreme Court of Appeals does hereby establish a Judicial Investigation Commission to determine whether probable cause exists to formally charge a judge with a violation of the Code of Judicial Conduct promulgated by the Supreme Court of Appeals to govern the ethical conduct of judges or that a judge because of advancing years and attendant physical and mental incapacity, should not continue to serve.

WVRJDP 1.11 gives the Judicial Investigation Commission ("JIC") the authority to "determine whether probable cause exists to formally charge a judge with a violation of the Code of Judicial Conduct. . ." WVRJDP 3.11 conveys to the Judicial Hearing Board ("JHB") the authority to "conduct hearings on formal complaints filed by the Judicial Investigation Commission and make recommendations to the Supreme Court of Appeals regarding disposition

of those complaints." WVRJDP Rule 3.12 allows the JHB to "recommend or the Supreme Court of Appeals may consider the discipline of a judge for conduct that constitutes a violation of the [West Virginia] Rules of Professional Conduct" ("WVRPC").

Preamble [3] to the West Virginia Code of Judicial Conduct ("WVCJC") states that the Code "establishes standards for the ethical conduct of judges and judicial candidates. It is not intended as an exhaustive guide for the conduct of judges and judicial candidates, who are governed in their judicial and personal conduct by general ethical standards as well as by the Code."

Respondent is a resident of Wayne County, West Virginia, and has a high school education along with some college courses (6/24-25/2019 JHB Hearing Transcript "HTr." at 243). Respondent's father, a Wayne County Magistrate for approximately 25 years, decided not to run for re-election in the May 2016 judicial election (HTr. at 244, 321-22). Respondent ran for the seat being vacated by his father and won the election but was not supposed to take office until January 1, 2017. At some point thereafter, Respondent's father retired (HTr. at 245, 321-22). Respondent was appointed to fill the vacancy and began serving as a magistrate on or about November 1, 2016 (HTr. at 244-45, 322). On January 1, 2017, Respondent again took office per the election (HTr. at 245). His term is set to expire on December 31, 2020 (HTr. At 245). At all times relevant to the matters giving rise to the instant proceeding, Respondent served as a Magistrate of Wayne County.

During the morning hours of February 21, 2017, Respondent's father was at Vernick's Country Corner, a small grocery store in East Lynn, when he learned that the trout stocking truck was going to the spillway (HTr. at 323). The father called Respondent, told him that the lake was being stocked with trout and asked him if he wanted to go fishing (HTr. at 323). Respondent

agreed (HTr. at 323). Approximately two to three hours later, Respondent picked his father up, and the two rode in Respondent's truck to the spillway (HTr. at 323).

On the day in question, Lendisy Napier, Respondent and his father "met down" at the spillway (HTr. at 228). Respondent's father and Mr. Napier have known each other for over thirty (30) years (HTr. at 235; 349). Mr. Napier has fished with Respondent's father on several occasions and has been to his home many times (HTr. at 349). Respondent's father even drove Mr. Napier to the hearing on the first day (HTr. at 325). Mr. Napier testified that he has known Respondent for about ten (10) years (HTr. at 235). Mr. Napier was already at the spillway fishing when the other two arrived (HTr. at 222, 323-24).

Respondent and his father settled down next to Mr. Napier and for the next "couple of hours or something like that" fished next to him (HTr. at 222, 224-225, 324). According to Respondent's father, Mr. Napier was the closest person fishing next to him outside of his son (HTr. at 352). Respondent's father testified that he "talked to [Mr. Napier] the whole time we were there" (HTr. at 324, 353). Respondent's father also testified that his son and Mr. Napier talked to each other (HTr. at 350). Mr. Napier stated that "there was the three of us there fishing, right there together" and "I was fishing beside both of them" (HTr. at 225, 234). He also stated that he "thought [Respondent] was fishing all the time there" beside of them (HTr. at 227).

Meanwhile, there were three undercover Department of Natural Resources ("DNR") officers in plain clothes at the spillway to make sure that no one was violating any West Virginia laws pertaining to fishing (HTr. at 60, 123). W. Va. Code § 20-1-17(b)(7) gives the DNR the authority to fix by regulation . . . the open seasons and the bag, creel, size, age, weight and sex limits with respect to wildlife in this State. On or about February 21, 2017, the daily creel limit

for brook, brown, rainbow and golden trout is "six (6) trout in aggregate and the possession limit is twelve (12) trout in aggregate. . . ." See 58 CSR 60-5.2. The term "aggregate" is defined as:

[T]he total creel or possession limit of similar kinds of game fish. For example, the daily creel limit for trout is six (6). This could be two (2) brown trout, two (2) brook trout, and two (2) rainbow trout, or any combination of six (6) trout, but not more than a total of six (6) per day nor more than a total of twelve (12) in possession.

See 58 CSR 60-2.1. Exceeding the creel limit on trout is a misdemeanor offense in West Virginia, and the penalty upon conviction is a fine of not less than fifty dollars (\$50.00) nor more than three hundred dollars (\$300.00) or imprisonment in the regional jail for not less than ten (10) nor more than one hundred (100) days or both a fine and imprisonment. See W. Va. Code § 20-2-5b.

The DNR officers did not know Respondent and he did not know them¹ (HTr. at 261).

DNR Corporal Larry Harvey² was stationed out of Logan County and DNR Officer Jacob Miller was stationed out of Mingo County³ (HTr. at 55, 122). As of February 21, 2017, Respondent had only been on the bench for about three and a half months and neither Corporal Harvey nor Officer Miller had appeared before him prior to that time.

According to the two DNR Officers, they would go to different counties to perform undercover trout details because they wouldn't be well known there (HTr. at 56, 123). During these details they "would look as least like a police officer as we can" (HTr. at 56). Officer

¹ Respondent testified at hearing that he didn't know either officer before February 21, 2017, and he "didn't even know who Officer Miller was today" (HTr. at 261).

² Corporal Harvey testified that he had been a DNR Officer for 19 years (HTr. at 121). When he first started working as a DNR Officer, he was stationed in Wayne County and served there for six years before being transferred to his home county of Logan (HTr. at 122). Corporal Harvey testified that he had appeared in front of the father when he served as a magistrate but the last time had been nine or ten years before the February 21, 2017 encounter (HTr. at 197). Corporal Harvey testified that although the father looked familiar to him, he did not recognize him as a former magistrate (183-84). In response to a question by Respondent's attorney, Corporal Harvey stated that "what I was trying to explain to you before, is I thought it looked like someone that I knew, but I didn't know who he was" (HTr. at 176). Respondent's father testified that he did not recognize Corporal Harvey during the encounter (HTr. at 339).

³ The third officer was Corporal Dennis Painter, who was also from out of county. He has since retired from the DNR and did not testify at hearing.

Miller testified that "[w]e're not allowed to grow facial hair in uniform, so we will use the term, "dirty up." We'll grow a scruff, just try to blend in with the – with the public, wear plain clothes" (HTr. at 56). They also took an unmarked cruiser to the spillway (HTr. at 61).

Corporal Harvey was standing on the western bank of the tail waters just below the dam observing Respondent, his father and Mr. Napier fishing together (HTr. at 123-126). Corporal Harvey fished "close or near to them for the next hour-and-a-half" (HTr. at 124). At hearing, Corporal Harvey testified that Respondent caught at least eight trout or two more than the law allows:

The Respondent took the blue stringer and set it down near his father. And he started catching fish, and what appeared to me to be, he was releasing them. So he'd catch a fish, and he'd throw down in the water. He'd catch a fish and throw it down in the water. Now of course, I can't sit and stare at him the whole time. So you know, when I'm casting my rod and reel upstream, so I can look at them, because they're located upstream from me. And as it comes down, of course, I go to take my eyes off them, and so on, and so forth. Cast again, so I can see what they're doing. And intermittently, every minute or so, be able to see what's going on. . . . Anyway, after awhile the gentleman directly beside me — I'd say he was about five foot away from me, I never found out who he actually is, so we'll just refer to him as the unknown gentleman [Mr. Napier] — he had caught five trout, and amongst their conversation, I could hear him tell Respondent that "I only have five trout."

The Respondent then reaches down into the water where I thought he'd been releasing fish at, and he pulls fish up out of there, and he says, do you want this?" And hands it to the older gentleman, and then he took it and put it on a stringer, which made six. A few minutes went on by, and the Respondent's father said, "Well, I guess – I guess I've only got five too." I'm assuming at this time, they're about ready to leave. Well, the Respondent looks at him and says, "I can take care of that in a minute." So he continues to fish. Well, he hooks a fish, reels it in, and gives it to his father. The Respondent gives it to his father. He puts it on the blue stringer that the Respondent had with him earlier as he moved up and down the bank.

They talk around for a little bit. I can't remember, at that point, if the Respondent caught more fish, but I can see them getting up and moving around getting ready

⁴ Respondent and Respondent's father both acknowledged at hearing that the father asked his son to "catch me" a fish (HTr. at 329). Respondent's father testified that he knew at the time that he asked that it was a violation of state law to exceed the creel limit and therefore a violation of the Code of Judicial Conduct (HTr. at 347-349).

to leave. The Respondent goes up and he gets a stick, right about that long, about as big around as your pinky. And puts it through the gills of the fish, so he reaches down in the water, the fish that I think, at this point that he's releasing. He reaches down into the water and starts picking up fish.

And what he had done, he had – you take your fingers and you put your fingers underneath the gill plate of the fish, and you pull backwards, it breaks their neck and they die. So when you throw them down in the edge of the water – which is about this deep – they don't swim off. So he picks them up out of the water and starts putting them on that stick. And he gets six trout on that stick. . . .

And the Respondent's father and the other gentleman [Mr. Napier], all three get up, and they start up the bank at this point. And of course, at that point, then the Respondent had caught six trout for the blue stringer, and six trout for the stick and one trout for the other gentleman [Mr. Napier].

(HTr. at 127-129).

At about this time, Officer Miller went over to Corporal Harvey to tell him that he had some potential violators across the spillway and was going to apprehend them (HTr. at 69-70). Corporal Harvey suggested that Officer Miller wait because he was going to charge someone (HTr. at 70). Corporal Harvey then pointed to Respondent (HTr. at 70). Corporal Harvey asked Officer Miller to detain Respondent (HTr. at 71). Officer Miller told Respondent that he didn't want to embarrass him so he would follow him to his vehicle and talk to him:

When we got to the vehicle of the Respondent, on the way there, I go up to the Respondent, and in a friendly manner, you know, like I said, blending in, said, "how many fish did you catch, buddy?" or "Did you do any good buddy?" And he said, "Yeah, I've got six — I've got six." That's when I asked him, "Do you know who I am?" And he said, "No." And I asked him again. "You — really don't know who I am?" And he says, "No, I don't know [who] you are." And I told him, "Well, I'm a game warden, and you had been fishing beside of another game warden, who's in plain closes, and he's watched you violate the law. . . ." Once we get to the vehicle, right before we made contact with — the initial area the vehicle's in, I showed my wallet and my badge and my ID, and I said, "Just to show you, I'm not lying about who I am." That way he knows I am a police officer. . . . [H]e drops the tailgate of his truck and throws a card down, presents a card and he says, "Well, I'm not lying about who I am either."

(HTr. at 72-73). The card turned out to be Respondent's Supreme Court photo identification card (HTr. at 74). According to Officer Miller, Respondent acted in "kind of an arrogant manner" (HTr. at 74). Officer Miller looked at the card and once he saw it was not a driver's license he left it on the tailgate of the truck (HTr. at 74-75). Officer Miller then asked Respondent for a DMV issued driver's license or identification card, fishing license and trout stamp (HTr. at 74-76). The Respondent then gave him his driver's license and other documents (HTr. at 75-76).

Once Officer Miller had those in his possession "the other two gentlemen that were at the water with him, as we were walking up, they approached the vehicle as well" (HTr. at 76). Officer Miller then asked Respondent's father for his driver's license, fishing license and trout stamp (HTr. at 76). Respondent's father said, "Nope" (HTr. at 76). Eventually, he got a fishing license from Respondent's father (HTr. at 338). Officer Miller did not get to ask Mr. Napier for his identification (HTr. at 76). According to Officer Miller, Corporal Harvey "came up from the spillway where he was at and advised me that the individuals that I was watching earlier . . . were actually going to their vehicles, they were leaving. That I needed to hurry up and go up there and apprehend them and deal with them" (HTr. at 76-77).

Before leaving, Officer Miller gave Corporal Harvey the documents he had gathered but couldn't find Respondent's Supreme Court photo identification. Officer Miller asked Respondent what happened to it (HTr. at 77). Respondent informed Officer Miller that he had placed the Supreme Court photo identification back in his wallet (HTr. at 77). Officer Miller also told Corporal Harvey about Respondent showing a Supreme Court photo identification (HTr. at 133).

⁵ Mr. Napier testified at hearing that Respondent and his father left "just a few minutes before" he did (HTr. at 228). Mr. Napier also said as he "come up through there, they told me that they was – they was having a little affair with a game warden, and I just – I said, well, I'm just going home" (HTr. at 229).

Officer Miller told Corporal Harvey that the men were claiming that they each caught six fish (HTr. at 133). Corporal Harvey then looked at Respondent and said, "you caught too many trout, and you give him trout.' I pointed at the elderly man [Mr. Napier]. And I said 'and you give him trout,' and I pointed to his father." (HTr. at 133). At hearing, Officer Miller testified that when he left four people remained behind:

- Q. When you left to go, to apprehend the other group, not counting Corporal Harvey, how many people were at the truck?
- A. Three.
- Q. Who would those three people be?
- A. It was the Respondent, who was now identified as his father, and then another gentleman I do not know.

(HTr. at 78).

As Officer Miller was leaving, Respondent's father yelled, "Where is he going. I want my fishing license" (HTr. at 135). Corporal Harvey told Respondent's father that he had his license (HTr. at 136). He then asked the three men to stay where they were while he went to a nearby picnic table to retrieve his back pack containing citation forms (HTr. at 136). When he returned, Mr. Napier was gone (HTr. at 137). Corporal Harvey looked through the documentation that Officer Miller gave him and saw that he only had credentials for Respondent and his father (HTr. at 137). Corporal Harvey then asked them what happened to the third man:

I asked the Fergusons where their friend was and who he was. [Respondent's father] said, "What friend." [Respondent] said, "I don't know who you are talking about." I said, "The man you have been fishing right beside of and talking to. The one you walked up to the parking lot with and the one you were standing here

⁶ Officer Miller called it "party fishing" and defined it as "if I caught my six fish, and the gentleman with me fishing had caught four, I would catch the other two and give those to him, which makes it illegal" (HTr. at 57).

⁷ The testimony of Respondent's father corroborated Corporal Harvey's testimony (HTr. at 337-338).

with a minute ago." Both Fergusons said, "I don't know who you are talking about."8

(JDC Exhibit No. 2 at 3; HTr. at 137-138).

Corporal Harvey said at that point things started "to get a little bit out of hand" (HTr. at 138). Corporal Harvey testified:

[Respondent] raises his voice and he says, "I want you to prove that you've got seven – you – I've exceeded the limit of trout. I want you to look in the back of this truck right here. There's two stringers there, and there's five fish on each stringer. Now you tell me – prove to me, how that I've exceeded the limit"

HTr. at 138). Corporal Harvey then looked in the back of Respondent's truck and saw that one stick of six fish was missing and there were only five fish on each of the two remaining stringers (HTr. at 138). Corporal Harvey then answered Respondent's question by stating that "myself and Officer Miller both saw each one of you with six fish. So it really doesn't matter to me" (HTr. at 139). Respondent then retorted, "Well, you do what you're gonna do. You go ahead and do what you're gonna do. This ain't going nowhere" (HTr. at 139). Respondent repeated the statement a second time (HTr. at 140-41). Corporal Harvey considered the statement a "threat" and that Respondent was going to get the ticket "taken care of" (HTr. at 141).

About the same time, Respondent's father said he was "tired of fooling with you game wardens" (HTr. at 139). Officer Harvey reminded him that he wouldn't have to fool with game wardens if he hadn't violated the law (HTr. at 139). In an effort to try to diffuse the situation, Corporal Harvey suggested that they all go over and sit at a picnic table so he could have something "to write on" (HTr. at 141). Respondent replied, "I ain't going nowhere. I'm staying here behind my truck" (HTr. at 141). Respondent's father also refused to leave the truck (HTr. at

⁸ Respondent's father admitted that he told Corporal Harvey that there was no third man there even though he had been fishing with his son and Mr. Napier (HTr at 315-354). Respondent's father also admitted telling JIC Investigator Dave Hudson that Corporal Harvey' got mad at him because there was an old man fishing there and he left and I wouldn't tell him the man's name because it was none of his business' (HTr. at 353).

141). Corporal Harvey left the two at the truck, sat down at the picnic table and began writing the citations (HTr. at 145-146).

Respondent then started walking toward the picnic table with his hands in his pockets (HTr. at 146). Corporal Harvey asked Respondent to take his hands out of his pockets for officer safety and because "I don't want to get shot today" (HTr. at 146). Respondent became "enraged" which really "hyped up" the situation "for a long time" (HTr. at 146). With respect to the Respondent, Corporal Harvey testified:

So he's like – he's like, "oh, so now I'm gonna shoot you," and he starts throwing his arms like this here (indicating), and pacing back and forth. And looks back at his dad and says, "He says he's going to shoot me now. He's" – "I guess I'm gonna shoot him." And – and starts saying stuff like that. . . . Well, once he starts up that course, now the dad comes up and he just – the father starts, you know, trying to say, "Let us go. You can't hold us here. . . ." I mean, it's literally both of them are – they're pacing back and forth, side to side, screaming at the top of the lungs. If they really wanted me to understand a point they had to say, they'd take a couple steps toward me, and they'd put their head over their chest right here, and then scream it real loud, like this, and, you know, giving me the – the gist of what they wanted me to really know that was the point they was trying to tell me – and most of the time, it was get my stuff let me go now.

(HTr. at 147).

They then had a discussion about whether Corporal Harvey could hold the two men there while he wrote the citations, whether the offenses charged were jailable and whether he had the authority to arrest them (HTr. at 147-148). Corporal Harvey testified that while this discussion was going on Respondent and his father for "most of the whole time, [are] screaming, it's throwing their hands up in the air like this, and just unbelievable to me, to be truthful with you" (HTr. at 148-149). Respondent said things like "you can't arrest us for this. This is not – this is not a jailable offense" and "oh, I guess you're going to put me in jail for fishing without a license now. I got a license" (HTr. at 148-149). After a while they calmed down and returned to Respondent's vehicle (HTr. at 150).

Corporal Harvey finished writing the citations and returned to the truck. Corporal Harvey charged Respondent with the misdemeanor offenses of exceeding the trout limit in violation of W. Va. Code § 20-1-7(7) and illegal possession of trout in violation of W. Va. Code § 20-2-32(c) (JDC Exhibit No. 2 at 6, and JDC Exhibit No. 3). Corporal Harvey attempted to get Respondent and his father to sign the citations. Corporal Harvey testified that "the first thing I get from both of them is, 'Well, I'm not signing anything, and I – I'm not' – they wouldn't give me the phone numbers; they wouldn't sign the citations" (HTr. at 151). In the end, Respondent and his father said, "I ain't signing nothing" (HTr. at 152).

Corporal Harvey handed the citation to Respondent and told him how long he had to appear in Wayne County Magistrate Court (HTr. at 152). Respondent replied, "So I need to contact Sergeant Gary Amick about this?" (HTr. at 152). Corporal Harvey told him that he could "contact my Lieutenant, Terry Ballard," who was the acting captain at the time, or at the office, if that's what you mean'" (HTr. at 153). Respondent then said, "Oh, so I need to – contact Sergeant Larry Rockel" (HTr. at 153). Corporal Harvey replied, "Well, if – you know, Sergeant Larry Rockel is my sergeant' and he kind of left at that point, after that was said" (HTr. at 153). After Respondent and his father left, Officer Miller returned from the other side of the spillway. He asked Corporal Harvey how it went (JDC Exhibit No. 1). According to Officer Miller, Corporal Harvey replied that "they were pretty belligerent and irate during the whole incident" (HTr. at 80; JDC Exhibit No. 1).

Corporal Harvey testified that the encounter with Respondent and his father was time consuming:

⁹ Respondent's citation shows he received the ticket at about 1:50 p.m. (JDC Exhibit No. 3).

¹⁰ Officer Miller returned sometime after 2:10 p.m., which was the time listed on the two tickets he wrote that day (JDC Exhibit No. 6).

- Q. In your 19 years of experience, how long does it usually take you to write two citations to – for the fishing – fishing violations that you wrote the Respondent and his father for?
- A. Five minutes.
- Q. And your recollection was about 30 minutes for that?
- A. At least 30. Between 30 and 45, probably, when you start talking about from the start to the end of me trying to get the information, up to dealing with them, all the way to the end of it.

(HTr. at 150). Corporal Harvey also testified that it was the worst encounter of his career:

In my 19 years of experience, I have wrote many fish citations, exceeding the limit citations. I've never had anything close to this happen, not – I mean, this was terrible over a fishing violation. I guess most of the people will thank you and they'll say, yeah, I understand what I'm doing is wrong, you got me. That's usually what you get. I appreciate it, and I appreciate you going – you know, making me understand this is something that's important.

(HTr. at 154-155).

At some point shortly after the encounter, Corporal Harvey also told Officer Miller that the older gentleman was actually the retired magistrate¹¹ (H.Tr. at 80). However, Corporal Harvey and Officer Miller did not know that Respondent was the sitting magistrate until they contacted Sergeant Rockel after they left the spillway and were in cellphone range (HTr. at 80). Officer Miller testified:

I told Sergeant Rockel, I said, you know, we are on an undercover detail in Wayne County, and we probably just charged the retired magistrate of the county and his son. I'm still referring to him as his son; I don't know his position yet. And Larry kind of – I don't know if you would call it a laugh or just a chuckle – he said, "Who – what do you mean? Who did you charge? And I said the dad was charged as well as the son. And Larry says, in his terms, he says, "Guys, you know boys, the dad is a retired magistrate, the son is actually the acting magistrate

¹¹ According to Corporal Harvey, Respondent's father first disclosed that he had "just retired from working at the courthouse for twenty years" when he was handed the citation charging him with the misdemeanor offenses of illegal possession of trout in violation of W. Va. Code § 20-2-4 and failure to carry/present picture identification in violation of W. Va. Code § 20-2-32(c) (JDC Exhibit No. 2 at 6). Corporal Harvey "did not know David Ferguson Sr. was the retired magistrate until he mentioned working at the courthouse" (JDC Exhibit No. 2 at 6). The charges against Respondent's father were later dismissed by the prosecutor's office.

in Wayne County. He is the magistrate there." I told him, I said, "Well, we've charged a retired magistrate and the magistrate, I guess." And so he – actually – he had worked – he knew the Respondent, he worked with him on another side job, and he told me, he said, "You know, he's a pretty good boy. I don't know" – I can't remember if he said, "What's gotten into him" or – he did say that he was pretty – he knew him as being a pretty good guy, in my sergeant's words.

(HTr. at 81).

The citation issued to Respondent was DNR No. 65107 (JDC Exhibit No. 3). The ticket listed both of Respondent's misdemeanor charges (JDC Exhibit No. 3). Under the description of the incident, Corporal Harvey wrote "8 trout/6 limit." At the bottom of the first page it says "I promise to appear in said court at said time and place and in the signature line underneath, Corporal Harvey wrote "failure to sign/refused" (JDC Exhibit No. 3). On page two of the citation, Respondent placed his initials "DF" next to "no contest" (JDC Exhibit No. 3; HTr. at 256-257). Respondent also placed his signature at the bottom of the no contest plea and dated it the same day as the incident or "2-21-17" (JDC Exhibit No. 3; HTr. at 257). Respondent admitted at hearing that he signed it the same day he received the citation (HTr. at 257). Respondent also testified;

- Q. On page 2, the date of the ticket says February 21, 2017. When I asked about that, you said that was the day that you pled no contest to the ticket. Is that correct?
- A. Yeah. I mean that had to have been when I went and that I did.

(HTr. at 313-314). At the top of the page, the Wayne County Prosecutor wrote the Wayne County Misdemeanor Case No. "17-M50M-00270" (JDC Exhibit No. 3). Interestingly, one of Respondent's two misdemeanor charges was not dismissed until March 10, 2017, or some 17 days after Respondent had signed the citation indicating that he was pleading no contest (JDC Exhibit No. 4). The prosecutor prepared the Motion which said: "Dismiss illegal possession of

trout based on Defendant's plea to exceeding limit for trout. \$50.00 fine per W. Va. Code § 20-2-5b" (JDC Exhibit No. 4).

On February 23, 2017, both DNR officers wrote separate incident reports about the encounter which were admitted into evidence at hearing (Tr. 81-84; JDC Exhibit Nos. 1 and 2). Officer Miller testified that incident reports were fairly routine:

Anytime something out of the ordinary happens, whether it be, you know an arrest with a use of force, [if] a CPS worker has to come, anything that's not in the norm for us, being the case here, we write an incident report, and that actually goes to our colonel, who's the head of the chain of command, and it lets him know what happened, and some of the brief details of what's going on. In case he's notified, he's not blindsided by someone asking him about that case. That just gives him a heads up of what's going on.

(HTr. at 81-82). Importantly, the narrative in both incident reports is consistent with each officer's testimony at hearing. Equally significant is the fact that each officer's incident report and testimony is corrobative of the other officer's incident report and testimony.

On April 9, 2018, a judicial ethics complaint was filed against Respondent by DNR Captain Terry A. Ballard and was given Complaint No. 35-2018. The complaint was predicated in part on the February 21, 2017 incident. By letter dated April 30, 2018, the Judicial Investigation Commission asked Respondent to reply to the allegations contained in the Complaint. By letter dated May 3, 2018, Respondent replied to the allegations:

When I received this violation the DNR Officer asked me for my identification. I presented to him my drivers license and also my fishing license. At no point during the incident did I ever tell the DNR Officer that I was a magistrate. At no point during this incident did I ever present to any DNR Officer my judicial ID. . . As you can see I pleaded no contest to charge #1 (Exceeding Limit Trout) and I paid that fine. Charge #2 was dismissed by Magistrate Runyon and the Prosecuting Attorney based upon the plea to charge #1. . . I have never nor will I ever treat any officer with disrespect. . . .

(JDC Exhibit No. 4 at 3) (emphasis added).

The JIC conducted a thorough investigation into the allegations including taking a sworn statement from Respondent on October 12, 2018. A redacted version covering only the events surrounding February 21, 2017 was admitted into evidence at hearing. In that statement, Respondent lied about whether a third man was fishing with his father and him on February 21, 2017, and his knowledge concerning the identity of the third man. Respondent repeatedly falsely maintained that only he and his father were fishing together:

They said that there was fishing with three people. I was not fishing with three people. There was people there. There was another guy that had walked up after we left and he said, "who is that guy?" I don't know who the guy was. I wasn't fishing with him.

(10/12/2018 Sworn Statement "SSTr." at 45, 52). Respondent also denied knowing the name of the individual:

- Q. So when Officer Miller testifies there was a third-to this day—unknown party there that is wrong?
- A. Yeah. There was two of us. I can't tell you if somebody else was getting in their vehicle that day or not. There was two of us that day. We had went together, period.
- Q. So when Officer Harvey came and questioned you about where the third gentleman was, you had no idea who he was talking about?
- A. No. . . . There was some other people that Dad was talking to because I hadn't even been down there fishing with them. And when I come back down there, he did say "Catch one more. Let's get out of here, Get Papaw some Trout," and at that point, that's when I did that. But I don't know I mean I don't know who was who the other guy that they're referring to.

(SSTr. at 52-53). Respondent also said that the officers "were alleging that we had another guy with us and they said he was a gray-haired gentleman. And there was no other guy with us (SSTr. at 102).

Respondent also lied about his behavior when Officer Miller and Corporal Harvey interacted with him on that day. Respondent said his father was "heated" and that he tried to

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