IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA



IN THE MATTER OF:

THE HONORABLE DAVID E. FERGUSON
MAGISTRATE OF WAYNE COUNTY

SUPREME COURT NO. 19-0032
JIC COMPLAINT NO. 35-2018

RESPONDENT'S COUNSEL'S BRIEF

Respectfully submitted,

Judicial Disciplinary Counsel

By

R. Lee Booten II, Esquire
637 7th Avenue
Huntington, West Virginia 25701
304-522-4601
304-523-1020 (facsimile)
bootenlaw@wvdsi.net

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondents counsel's position is that the recommended decision of the JHB on August 1, 2019, correctly decided all issues concerning alleged disciplinary allegations, and that its recommended discipline set forth in paragraphs 32 and 33 of that recommended decision of the appropriate disciplinary action to be sanctioned against the respondent for Count I and Count II of the Formal Statement of Charges.

III.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

By Order entered December 5, 2019, the Supreme Court has set this matter for oral argument on its January 14, 2020, Oral Argument Docket.

IV.

ARGUMENT

A. INTRODUCTION

Respondent's counsel so concurs with JDC that this Court is the final arbiter of judicial ethics in West Virginia, and that the Court will make an independent of the record and recommendations of the JHB. Judicial Inquiry Commission v Dostert, 165 WV. 233, 271 S.E. 2d 427 (1980).

B. JHB DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE JDC PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH THAT RESPONDENT AND HIS FATHER WERE FISHING WITH A THIRD MAN AND THAT HE LIED ABOUT THE IDENTITY OF THE MAN.

The JHB in detail set forth that the respondent did not violate the Code of Judicial Conduct by not disclosing the identity of the third man who had been fishing alongside respondent and respondent's father in paragraphs 4 and 8 of its recommended decision. Counsel submits that these findings of fact were not specifically rebutted by the JDC in its brief, particularly considering testimony of Mr. Napier at HTr 222 in response to the question "Did you go with the Ferguson's? A. Why I went by myself."

C. THAT THE JHB DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT ANY MISSTATEMENT DURING RESPONDENT'S SWORN STATEMENT WAS NOT A VIOLATION OF WVCJC RULE 1.1

Counsel submits that the JHB's conclusion of law set forth in paragraph 12 in that any misstatements were not violations of any law, therefore, a violation of Rule 1.1. Respondent readily admitted that he violated DNR laws by possessing the extra fish as well documented in this case. However, that admission unlike misstatements are clear violations of law, so as not to support the finding of a violation of Rule 1.1 as alleged by JDC to be clear and convincing evidence of that allegation.

D. THAT THE JHB DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THEIR WAS MUCH MORE MITIGATION IN THIS CASE AS JUSTIFICATION OF ITS RECOMMENDED DECISION IN ADDITION TO THE RESPONDENT BEING A RELATIVELY NEW MAGISTRATE ON FEBRUARY 21, 2017, AND HAS NOT BEEN THE SUBJECT OF ANY PRIOR DISCIPLINE

This matter involves a nolo plea to a fishing regulation and that JHB's conclusion that respondent's acts of misconduct "were not related to the administration of justice; are entirely personal in nature and do not involve . . . a callous disregard for our system of justice." See Syl. Pt. 1, In re Cruickshanks 220 W.Va. 513, 648 S.E. 2d 19 (2007). The evidence in this matter clearly shows that the respondent never made any attempt to contact DNR Officer Harvey's superiors, and further accepted his responsibility the same day that the ticket was issued.

That the JHB's consideration that the presence of respondent's father, a former Magistrate who was more confrontational and

disrespectful, may have influenced respondent's poor behavior; prior DNR cases in which respondent and his father had made rulings which with DNR Officers did not agree; and the fact that the respondent did not consult with an attorney with respect to preparation of the response to the complaint and his giving of a sworn statement, were all proper considerations in this matter, in that they contain "unique facts and circumstances" of this case. This is citation In re Flouty, 229 W.Va. 256, 260, 728 S.E. 2d 140, 144 (2012).

E. THAT THE JHB'S RECOMMENDED DECISION TO SUSPEND WITHOUT PAY THE RESPONDENT FOR THIRTY DAYS (30), TO ISSUE A PUBLIC REPRIMAND FOR HIS CONDUCT BE CONSISTENT WITH THE CODE OF JUDICIAL CONDUCT, A FINE OF \$1,000.00 AND PAYMENT OF COSTS AND PROCEEDINGS WAS PROPER IN LIGHT OF ALL AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING FACTORS

That the JHB's findings and respondent's misconduct in this case falls well short of misconduct as compared to the conduct of a Magistrate in the case of In re Riffle, 210 W.Va. 591, 558 S.E. 2d 590 (2001). That the JHB's recommended decision in citing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances were proper support of its recommended decision.

V.